# FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/16/2018 2:50 PM No. 96536-6

(Washington Court of Appeals No. 76479-9-I)

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer doing business in Washington State,

Appellant.

v.

#### JOGINGER SINGH DBA AP TRANSPORT,

Respondent.

#### APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jaquelyn A. Beatty, WSBA #17567 Karr Tuttle Campbell 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1313 Attorneys for Respondent Zurich American Insurance Company

####

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Zurich American Insurance Company ("ZAIC") seeks review of the decision terminating review in *Joginder Singh dba AP Transport v. Zurich American Insurance Company*, 2018 Wash. App. Lexis 1937, filed by Division I of the Court of Appeals on August 13, 2018 (the "Opinion") as an unpublished decision. On October 17, 2018, Division I filed its Order Granting Motion to Publish the Opinion. (The Opinion and Order Granting Motion to Publish are attached as Appendix A.) This case is linked and this petition is related to *Sykes v. Singh*, No. 76009-2-I.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Accidents giving rise to multiple suits and potential claims, and for which an insured has insufficient insurance, are not uncommon. Other states have adopted specific rules for insurers and parties to follow. Currently, Washington does not have such a rule. This case demonstrates the need for guidance that is consistent with Washington's principles that insurance contracts are to be enforced as written, and that bad faith cannot be based on obligations that are not part of the parties' agreement. This petition raises the following issues:

1. Whether insurers that settle suits presenting excess exposure to their insureds for the limit of their policies, and thereby satisfy the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "CP" references pertain to the record in this action, Court of Appeals No. 76479-9-I, unless designated as "CP \_\_\_\_ (No. 76009-2-I)."

policy's obligation to pay indemnity, must defend a new lawsuit filed sixteen months later?

- 2. Whether a claim of bad faith can be founded upon an insurer's payment of policy limits in settlement of a covered claim for which the insured is liable and which claim, if not settled, will expose the insured to a substantial uninsured judgment?
- 3. Whether presumed damages should be awarded at the same time as actual damages? If so, what is being presumed?
- 4. Whether emotional distress damages are the type of damages that should be available for the unintentional tort of insurance bad faith that does not involve physical injury?

Petitioner seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), 13.4(b)(2), and 13.4(b)(4).

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 20, 2011, two commercial trucks collided. The ensuing chain collision affected many vehicles and resulted in the death of Rachel Beckwith. ZAIC's insured, Joginder Singh d/b/a AP Transport ("Singh"), owned one of the trucks, driven by employee Richard Noble. The indemnity limit of Singh's policy was \$1 million. Under Singh's policy: "We [ZAIC] have the right and duty to defend any insured against a 'suit' asking for such damages .... However, we have no duty to defend any insured against a 'suit' ... to which this insurance does not apply." The policy also gave ZAIC discretion in the investigation and settlement of claims and suits: "We may investigate and settle any claim or 'suit' as we

consider appropriate." "Suit" is a "civil proceeding." Gilliardi Logging & Construction owned the other truck, driven by employee Mullins.

Three months after the accident, The Estate of Rachel Beckwith and Rachel's parents sued Singh, Noble, Gilliardi, and Mullins. ("*Beckwith*"). ZAIC defended Singh and Noble. The following July, the Washington State Patrol concluded the collision was caused by Singh's driver Noble. In March 2013, two months before trial, ZAIC paid Singh's policy limit to settle *Beckwith*. Had *Beckwith* not settled and gone to trial, Singh faced a multi-million-dollar judgment and bankruptcy.<sup>3</sup> The only other suit pending at the time was one by Farmers for \$25,150.32.<sup>4</sup> Other claimants had submitted documentation of damages totaling \$76,510.89.<sup>5</sup> Brian Sykes was not among them.<sup>6</sup> After receiving notice that policy limits were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ex. 201, p. 76 and 87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Defense counsel determined the wrongful death claim had a value that "significantly exceeds the combined value of all other personal injury claims," and that the \$3 million insurance available (\$1 million for Singh and \$2 million for Gilliardi) was "arguably not enough insurance to fully compensate the Beckwith Estate and Rachel's parents for the death and consortium claims in that lawsuit by itself." CP 195 (No. 76009-2-I). One *Beckwith* lawyers, Max Meyers, testified *Beckwith* was worth \$15 million for Singh alone, and "my advice to [his clients] at that time was we were not going to take anything less than full limits." RP 383-386 (12/13/2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ex. 243, p. 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ex. 215, p. 3-12; Ex. 217; Ex. 219; Ex. 220; Ex. 221, p. 1-3, 6-8; Ex. 222, p. 2; Ex. 223, p. 5; Ex. 225; Ex. 228; Ex. 233, p. 4; CP 183-185; CP 233, p. 5; CP 479-527.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Sykes had submitted a letter of representation but no documentation of injuries and damages, Ex. 212. Such information was requested by defense counsel. Ex. 214, p. 2.

exhausted, Farmers dismissed its case and the other claimants withdrew.

ZAIC continued to pay for Singh's defense during this period.<sup>7</sup>

Sixteen months later, Brian Sykes sued Singh and Noble. The only information ZAIC had about Sykes' injuries, until the *Sykes* case later settled, was that he: "Had a bloody hand. Relatively minor injuries." *See also* CP 99 (No. 76009-2-I) (July 2012 police investigation report): "Sykes sustained an injury to his finger and his shoulders and back were sore." After defense counsel corresponded with Sykes and other potential claimants two months after the accident, and asked for "any documentation supporting your claim," Sykes supplied only a letter of representation. 10

Singh tendered the *Sykes* suit to ZAIC. ZAIC informed Singh that ZAIC had no duty to defend because Singh's policy was exhausted. Per the terms of the policy, ZAIC's duty to defend terminated when the policy limit was paid to settle *Beckwith*. Ex. 287. "Our duty to defend or settle ends when the Liability Coverage Limit of Insurance has been exhausted by payment of judgments or settlements...." Ex. 201, p. 76. Singh and Sykes settled and obtained court approval of their \$250,000 settlement. (*See* linked appeal no. 76009-2-I.)

Meanwhile Singh filed this case against ZAIC for breach of contract, bad faith, negligence, and CPA and IFCA violations, based on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 631-632.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Reported by defense counsel in CP 399.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Ex. 214.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Ex. 212.

ZAIC's failure to defend the *Sykes* case. The jury found ZAIC in bad faith and, as instructed, awarded the Sykes/Singh settlement amount plus Singh's purported attorney's fees from that case. <sup>11</sup> The jury also awarded emotional distress damages. <sup>12</sup> ZAIC prevailed on Singh's IFCA and CPA claims. <sup>13</sup> The trial court entered judgment on the jury's verdict. Division I affirmed.

This case should have been,<sup>14</sup> and should now be, decided as a matter of law.

#### IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- A. This Court should grant review because insurers that pay the policy limit to settle suits that pose excess exposure to their insureds, should not have to defend a new lawsuit filed sixteen months later—as plainly stated in the policy.
- 1. Division I did not enforce Singh's policy as written.

Insurers cannot speculate about suits that might be brought in the future. They should not be required to predict if a claimant will sue. Insurers have no duty to solicit claims and encourage lawsuits. Insurers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 2512; CP 3164-65. The only evidence regarding the amount of these fees came from Singh's son, Harmit, who testified his father "incurred" fees of approximately \$36,000. RP 505 (12/14/2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> CP 3165. The only evidence of Singh's emotional distress came from Singh's son, Harmit, who said his father went to the hospital for stomach trouble but "they could find nothing." RP 509-510 (12/14/2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> CP 3166-67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Before answering, ZAIC moved to dismiss Singh's complaint pursuant to CR 12(b)(6). ZAIC later moved for summary judgment, for judgment as a matter of law, and renewed that motion after the jury rendered its verdict. CP 124-125. CP 730-755; 127-729; 1253-1260. CP 1286-1288.

have the duty to defend suits actually brought, and their conduct in settling those suits should not be judged sixteen months after the fact. Singh's policy plainly states that ZAIC's duty to defend terminates when the policy limit is paid to settle a case.

Beckwith presented a multi-million-dollar uninsured exposure to Singh and Noble. Trial was two months away. ZAIC had the contractual duty to defend, and the contractual right—and good faith obligation—to settle Beckwith, eliminating the most serious risk Singh and Noble faced. ZAIC also acted in accordance with Washington law requiring that insurers settle policy limit cases when it is possible to do so.

WAC 284.30.330 (6) and (12) require insurers to settle when liability is "reasonably clear." Singh's liability for Rachel Beckwith's death was absolutely clear. Washington case law insists that insurers meet policy limit demands to avoid exposing their insureds to excess exposure, and themselves to bad faith. Of all the claims and potential claims arising from the July 2011 collision, the *Beckwith* lawsuit presented by far the most serious exposure to Singh and Noble.

As long ago as 1974 this Court held in *Hamilton v. State Farm Ins.* Co., 83 Wn. 2d 787, 523 P.2d 193 (1974) that an insurer's refusal to compromise a claim within policy limits when reasonable analysis indicates finding liability against the insured in excess of policy limits is a negligent or bad faith performance of an insurer's duty. See also First State Ins. Co. v. Kemper Nat'l. Ins. Co., 94 Wn. App. 602, 612, 971 P.2d 953 (1999): "[A]n insurance company undertaking to defend its insured may be liable

to the insured for failing to make a good faith attempt to settle." In *Miller v. Kenny*, 180 Wn.App. 772, 325 P.3d 278 (2014), Safeco was found liable for bad faith. "Miller's major theme was that Safeco could have protected Kenny from exposure to an excess judgment by promoting a policy limits settlement much earlier." As a matter of law, ZAIC's payment of Singh's policy limit to settle *Beckwith* was reasonable under the circumstances and in accord with the insurance contract's terms and Washington law.

Beckwith did not involve a situation in which ZAIC "attempted to circumvent its duty to defend by making an early escape from the litigation." Opinion at 9. After receiving what he confirmed was a policy limit demand in January 2013,<sup>15</sup> defense counsel offered Singh's policy limit on February 4, 2013 after consulting with Singh.<sup>16</sup> The Beckwith plaintiffs agreed to accept the limit on February 27, 2013, after getting Gilliardi's \$2 million-dollar commitment.<sup>17</sup> ZAIC paid the policy limit on March 7, 2013.<sup>18</sup> Trial was set for May 20. Defense counsel informed everyone else, including Sykes that "Mr. Singh had very limited commercial liability insurance of \$1 million, and facing the prospect of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Ex. 249 p. 1-4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Exs. 252; 299 p. 222 and 228 (defense counsel invoices describing discussions with Singh and his son about "damages exposure" and "policy limit settlement offer strategy." Also, as early as March 2012, ZAIC and defense counsel determined the greatest exposure facing Singh and Noble was the *Beckwith* suit. Defense counsel recommended that Singh's limits be reserved for that purpose. Singh agreed. CP 187-188.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Exs. 255-258.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Ex. 265.

jury trial schedule for May 20, 2013 in the Rachel Beckwith Estate's wrongful death case, we have reached a settlement ... for the full policy limit of \$1 million. This settlement fully exhausts (depletes) my client's insurance coverage.... Unfortunately, there simply was not enough insurance to compensate all claims that arose from the accident." There is no evidence ZAIC tried to make "an early escape."

Moreover, when *Beckwith* settled, ZAIC did not abandon Singh. Farmers' suit was pending and numerous other claimants were demanding payment. ZAIC continued to pay for Singh's defense until Farmers dismissed its action and the other claimants withdrew upon proof that Singh's limits were exhausted.<sup>20</sup> Singh himself paid the WA DOT claim.<sup>21</sup>

ZAIC had fully performed under Singh's insurance policy by the time Sykes filed his case sixteen months later. Per the express terms of the contract, ZAIC had no further duty to Singh.

Interpretation of an insurance policy is a question of law. *Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 161 Wn.2d 43, 52, 164 P.3d 454 (2007). "If the language is clear, the court must enforce the policy as written...." *Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 165, 171, 110 P.3d 733 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Ex. 263.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  Exs. 271, 273, 276, 288; RP 141-144 (12/16/2016).

WA DOT refused to withdraw its claim for \$2,512.73 and threatened to revoke Singh's commercial driver's license. Singh agreed to pay that claim in installments after *Beckwith* settled. ZAIC paid defense counsel to negotiate this for Singh. Ex. 288, p. 4-7; RP 130-136 (12/16/2016).

This Court held in *Weyerhaueser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co.*, 142 Wn. 2d 654, 692, 15 P.3d 115 (2000) that an "insurer's duty to defend ceases once its policy has been exhausted by payments made" for an insured's liability. Division II said in *Ross v. Frank B. Hall*, 73 Wn. App. 630, 638, 870 P.2d 1007 (1994): "Thus it logically follows that if the policy limits were exhausted, the assured would be accountable for any loss, damages, costs, fees, expenses and/or claims exceeding the policy limit." Division III said in *Perez Trucking v. Ryder Truck*, 76 Wn. App. 223, 233-34, 886 P.2d 196 (1994) that primary insurers had the duty to defend "until judgment or settlement." Singh purchased a \$1 million dollar insurance policy, the minimum required for commercial truckers, <sup>22</sup> which said that when the limit was paid in judgment or settlement, ZAIC's duty to defend ended.

In this case Division I expanded an insurer's duty to defend, limited in the policy to a "suit" defined as a "civil proceeding," to an inchoate claim that might never materialize. "The insurer of a truck driver who caused a multi-vehicle freeway accident settled the largest claim for policy limits and then refused to defend its insured from a smaller [Sykes] claim," Opinion at 1. The court also said "Zurich did not independently investigate the potential value of that claim [Sykes] in relation to the Beckwith claim...." Opinion at 9. First, that is not true. ZAIC had information that Sykes "had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations, 49 CFR part 387, subpart A, Section 387.9 (73 FR 769406 Dec. 2008).

a bloody hand. Relatively minor injuries."<sup>23</sup> "Sykes sustained an injury to his finger and his shoulders and back were sore."<sup>24</sup> Second, an insurer has no duty to solicit claims. *Smith v. Premier Alliance Co.*, 48 Cal. Rptr. 2d 461, 466 (Ct. App. 1995); *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Russell*, 788 N.Y.S. 2d 401, 402 (N.Y. App. Div. 2004). Third, stating that ZAIC had a duty to defend Sykes' potential claim, before he filed suit, contradicts what Division II said in *United Servs. Auto. Ass'n v. Speed*, 179 Wn.App. 184, 194, 317 P.3d 532 (2014): "[W]hether a claim triggers a duty to defend *is a question of law....* Most Washington cases recite[] that the insurer's duty to defend is triggered when a complaint is filed against the insured..... The cases reference a 'complaint' because most standard policies require the insurer to defend only a 'suit' against the insured." Singh's policy required ZAIC to defend "suits," defined as a "civil proceeding," which is not a letter of representation from a lawyer who says his client will be making a claim and then disappears for almost three years.

Division I's opinion leaves insurers in Washington in limbo. Do insurers settle policy limit cases promptly and remove their insureds from the most serious exposures they face? Do insurers reject policy limit demands in excess exposure cases because someone else might come along later and sue their insureds? Are insurers required to defend all suits that arise from a single accident even though the policy limit is needed to settle

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Reported by defense counsel. CP 399.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 99 (No. 76009-2-I) (July 2012 police investigation report).

the most serious claim? Must an insurer wait until the statute of limitations has run before settling any suit—even if it means the first filed suit goes to trial and results in a judgment exceeding the insured's policy limit? And what about the unfavorable impacts to insurer and insured alike by requiring that an insurer defend a lawsuit when it has no obligation or ability—because limits are exhausted—to settle or pay a judgment in the case?

#### 2. This Court should adopt the "First to Settle Rule."

Division I said: "[T]here is no bright line absolutely excusing an insurer from its duty to defend once coverage is exhausted...." Opinion at 8. There should be a bright line rule: If the coverage is exhausted in payment of a covered claim that, if settled for the policy limit in exchange for a complete release of the insured in a clear excess exposure situation, and the policy so provides, an insurer has no continuing duty to defend.

The "first to settle rule" reflects the majority position. Richmond, Douglas R., "Too Many Claimants or Insureds and Too Little Money: Insurers' Good Faith Dilemmas," 44 TORT & INS. L.J 871 (Spring/Summer 2009) (Appendix B.) The rule "recognizes that insurers should be able to selectively settle with any or several of multiple claimants, even though these settlements deplete or exhaust the policy limits, without incurring bad faith liability in connection with any of the remaining claims." *Id.* at p. 8 of 30. As this commentator explains, the first to settle rule promotes efficiency and allows insurers the best opportunity to protect their insureds. "Indeed, to require an insurer to await the reduction of multiple claims to

judgment before paying them has the unfortunate effect of encouraging litigation and increasing the likelihood of insureds incurring liability beyond their limits." *Id.* at p. 9 of 30. The rule is not boundless—it requires that each settlement an insurer pays be reasonable—but at the time *Beckwith* was resolved, paying Singh's limit to obtain a complete release for Singh and Noble was eminently reasonable. ZAIC protected them from their largest exposure.

### B. This Court should grant review because a claim of bad faith cannot rest on terms that do not exist in the insurance contract.

Division I and Singh focused their bad faith analyses on ZAIC's settlement of *Beckwith*. "If the insurer acted in bad faith when negotiating a settlement that exhausted the policy limits the insurer cannot then use the exhaustion of policy limits as the basis for denying defense coverage.... At trial Singh presented evidence that Zurich placed its own interest above his when it settled the Beckwith claim." Opinion at 9.

Bad faith requires that an insurer's conduct be "unreasonable, frivolous, or unfounded." *Overton v. Consol. Ins. Co.*, 145 Wn.2d 417, 424, 38 P.3d 322 (2002). Settling *Beckwith* when given the opportunity protected Singh and Noble, eliminating what was certain to be a substantial judgment exceeding a million dollars, if the case went to trial. Settling *Beckwith* for limits also had the desired effect of discouraging other litigation. Farmers and all other claimants withdrew. The fact that Sykes filed suit sixteen months later does not alter the circumstances that existed

when ZAIC settled *Beckwith*. And ZAIC's conduct must be evaluated under those circumstances, not future ones.

The Opinion places new and unreasonable burdens on insurers in ways that contradict existing law and express contract terms. Insurers should not be required to think of "creative ways," Opinion at 3, to avoid exhausting a policy limit when a demand has been made for that limit by the estate of a sympathetic 9-year old decedent and her parents. What happens if those creative ways backfire, and a settlement opportunity is lost? *See Miller v. Kenny, supra.* 

ZAIC had no obligation to accept Singh's proposal to contribute \$1000 of his own funds towards the *Beckwith* settlement to preserve a defense for future lawsuits. Opinion at 9-11. Does Division I mean that as long as Singh could contribute in some small way to a settlement, he could avoid exhausting his policy and extend ZAIC's obligation to pay defense costs indefinitely? The insurance contract did not give Singh that option.

The duty of good faith does not require that an insurer accept changes to a policy after the policy is issued. "The duty of good faith does not extend to obligate a party to accept a material change in the terms of its contract ... [n]or does it inject substantive terms into the parties' contract. Rather, it requires only that the parties perform in good faith the obligations imposed by their agreement." *Badgett v. Sec. State Bank*, 116 Wn. 2d 563, 807 P.2d 356 (1991). *Viking Ins. Co. of Wisc. V. Hill*, 57 Wn. App. 341, 349-50, 787 P.2d 1385 (1990) does not hold otherwise. There, the insurer did not actually pay its limit in a settlement or judgment and obtain a release.

Instead, it paid the limit into the court registry, allegedly with the insured's permission, and terminated its defense. The court expressly stated it was not against public policy for insurers to provide in their policies that if limits are exhausted the duty to defend terminates. At issue was whether Viking's unilateral payment to the registry of the court without a settlement agreement and before entry of judgment was in good faith.

Division I said: "If Zurich had held back a mere \$1000 in coverage as Roessler proposed, it is speculative to assume that one of the other potential claimants would have gone to the trouble of suing Singh in order to get it." Opinion @ 11. No speculation is required because Farmers had already taken the "trouble" to sue Singh. Farmers' suit for \$25,150.32 was pending when *Beckwith* settled; defense counsel had received another \$76,510.89 in claim documentation and those parties were demanding satisfaction; and DOT was insisting on its \$2,512.73. More problematic—for Singh—would have been defense counsel's inability to truthfully tell Farmers and the others that Singh's insurance was gone. Once they learned *Beckwith* settled for \$1 million, but Singh's policy was not exhausted, they would have demanded the rest and asked if Singh had other assets.

The Opinion also suggests ZAIC should have asked defense counsel, who knew nothing about Alaska National's "holdback" agreement when he offered Singh's policy limit after consulting with his client, to negotiate one for Singh, and that ZAIC's failure to do so supports Singh's bad faith claim: "The *Beckwith* claimants had agreed to a \$100,000 holdback from the \$2 million policy limits contributed by Alaska National,

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