FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/17/2018 2:05 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 96536-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer doing business in Washington State,

Appellant,

V.

JOGINDER SINGH DBA AP TRANSPORT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT JOGINDER SINGH'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

MIX SANDERS THOMPSON, PLLC George A. Mix, WSBA No. 32864 Michael K. Rhodes, WSBA No. 41911 Attorneys for Respondent Singh 1420 Fifth Ave Suite 2200 Seattle WA 98101

Tel: 206-521-5989 Fax: 888-521-5980

Email: <u>george@mixsanders.com</u> Email: <u>mrhodes@mixsanders.com</u>

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Division I's Opinion Does Not "Expand the Duty to Defend"

Contrary to Zurich's argument, Division I's opinion does not expand the duty to defend from "suit" to "an inchoate claim that might never materialize." *Brief*, p. 9. In this case, Zurich voluntarily undertook the defense and investigation of <u>all</u> claims. RP 290, 212, CP 848. On July 21, 2011, Truitt mailed Singh a letter stating, "[w]e will make every effort to

settle all claims within your policy limit and secure a Release for you from every claimant." CP 146-147. Zurich hired Roessler to defend Mr. Singh and investigate <u>all</u> claims arising out of the July 2011 accident. CP 24 (12-15-2016); CP 212 (12-20-2012).

"Once the duty to defend attaches, insurers may not desert policyholders and allow them to incur substantial legal costs while waiting for an indemnity determination." *Am. Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 405, 229 P.3d 693, 696 (2010), as corrected on denial of reconsideration (June 28, 2010). Zurich undertook the duty to investigate and defend all claims. If it was unsure about its obligation to defend, Zurich could have defended the Sykes case under a reservation of rights while seeking a declaratory judgment that it had no duty to defend. *Id.* Doing so would have given Singh the defense promised and, if coverage was found not to exist, Zurich would not be obligated to pay. *Id.*

The jury found Zurich breached its insurance contract with Singh in bad faith. When an insurance company fails to act in good faith, it requires courts "to set aside traditional rules regarding harm and contract damages because insurance contracts are different." *Kirk v. Mt. Airy Ins. Co.*, 134 Wn.2d 558, 562, 951 P.2d 1124 (1998). "The insurer who in bad faith refuses to acknowledge its broad duty to defend is no less liable than the insurer who accepts the duty to defend under a reservation of rights, but

then performs the duty in bad faith." Id. at 564.

Division I's opinion does not, "leave insurers in Washington in limbo." *Brief*, p. 10. The answer to Zurich's bevy of questions about how insurers should handle multiple claimants on a loss where the aggregate value could exceed its insured's policy limits was provided by its own claim handling expert at trial – Do the right thing at the right time for the right reasons. RP 205 (12-19-2016).

Zurich may have avoided the position it currently finds itself in by adhering to some of the suggestions set forth in Appendix B to its brief. *See Petition for Review, Appendix B.* Specifically, the commentator¹ recommends:

1. The insurer, "should attempt to learn from the claimants how long it will be before they will be able to assess their injuries and damages, and thus allow the insurer to do the same." *Id.* at p. 18.

What Zurich Did:

- After receiving Mr. Hochberg's letter of representation for Sykes,
 Zurich never contacted him to inquire about his clients' injuries. RP
 334-335.
- o Zurich made no effort to settle the Sykes' claims or investigate the

¹ The author is Douglas R. Richmond, the managing director of the largest insurance broker in the world, Aon Risk Services.

- non-Beckwith claims. RP 223-224 (12-20-16) RP 274 (12-13-16).
- Reynolds asked Truitt to reach out to all claimants to "figure out exactly what type of injury each [claimant] is claiming." RP 224 (12-20-16). Truitt never did.
- Zurich never requested a medical release from Sykes or his Labor and Industries file, which was unusual. RP 335 (12-13-16).
- 2. "The insurer should explain its plan for resolving the <u>multiple claims</u> likely to be asserted against the insured." *Id.* (emphasis in original).

 What Zurich Did:
 - O Zurich's last communication to Singh, before its decision to offer policy limits stated, "Zurich believes that we should consider extending a settlement offer to the Beckwith Estate and would like your input with regard to making such an offer. CP 216 (emphasis added). When Singh provided input (asking Zurich's cooperation in offering \$999,000 to the Beckwith plaintiffs) Zurich refused and instead offered the full policy limits. CP 1091-1092, CP 299.
 - Zurich never gave a reason for why it rejected Singh's request. RP 445-447 (12-13-16).
- 3. "[T]he insurer should keep the insured apprised of the settlement process and its strategy. As the insurer formulates it strategy for settling with individual claimants, it should consult with the insured about that

process and possible approaches. It should check with the insured as often as necessary to confirm the insured's agreement with its decisions...By involving its insured in these matters...the insurer is fulfilling its responsibility to communicate and allowing the insured the chance to protect her own interests, both of which are compelling evidence of good faith and fair dealing." *Id.* "It would stand bad faith law on its head to hold that an insurer that allows an insured to protect herself against excess liability by involving her in settlement decisions thereby breaches its duty of good faith and fair dealing." *Id.* at p. 19.

What Zurich Did:

- o Reynolds reiterated Zurich had an "ongoing obligation to communicate with...Singh..." to discuss Singh's exposure and potential limits tender. Ex 297. Despite this, neither Truitt nor anyone from Zurich communicated with Singh or Roessler about its unilateral decision to offer the policy limits until *after* it decided to reject Roessler's proposal and offer limits. CP 816, 832; CP 222-223; 229.
- Zurich sent Singh a total of two letters in English² between August
 2011 and January 2013, before it instructed Roessler to offer Singh's
 full policy limits to the Beckwith plaintiffs. CP 174-175; CP 215-216.

² Zurich knew Singh did not speak English. CP 2935. Zurich often hires translators and has approved vendors for this purpose. RP 203 (12-20-16). Despite this, Zurich never hired a translator to communicate with Singh. RP 206-207 (12-20-16).

12

This commentator also cites the universal rule that, "[a]n insurance company is therefore guilty of bad faith if it subordinates an insured's financial interests to its own in handling a claim or suit." *Petition for Review, Appendix B* p. 17; see also *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. T&G Constr. Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 255, 269, 199 P.3d 376 (2008). Zurich's Petition ignores the multitude of evidence the jury heard supporting the fact it put its own financial interests above its insured's best interests.

Division I correctly declined to adopt a "bright-line rule" in cases with multiple claimants involving exposure above an insured's policy limits. The reason, in Mr. Richmond's words, is because "there is no one right way for the insurer to handle such a case." *Zurich's Appendix B*, p. 17. Rather, "[a]n insurer's investigation must always be guided by reason." *Id.* at p. 18.

The rule Zurich proposes would permit insurers to "pay and walk" without regard to the impact on Washington insureds. It would eliminate the almost universal requirement to keep insureds updated and involved. It would also permit insurers to put their financial interests above their insured's interests and undo decades of law requiring Washington insurers to act in good faith and consider the interests of their insureds. Zurich's Petition for Review should be denied

B. The Jury's Finding of Bad Faith Precludes Zurich From Arguing the Sykes Claim Was Not Covered

When an insurer fails to provide a defense in bad faith, the remedy is a presumption of harm and coverage by estoppel. *Kirk*, 134 Wn.2d at 562. This is because, "[t]he bad faith requires us to set aside traditional rules regarding harm and contract damages because insurance contracts are different." *Id.* With the jury's finding of a bad faith breach, Zurich is precluded from arguing there was no duty to defend the Sykes family claim. Because Zurich did not seek review of the jury's verdict, it is undisputed Zurich denied coverage on Sykes claims in bad faith and Singh was damages.

C. Insurers Cannot Benefit From Their Own Bad Faith

"The requirement of acting in good faith cannot be rendered meaningless." *Kirk*, 134 Wn.2d at 565.. An insurer cannot and should not benefit from its failure to act in good faith. *Woo v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co.*, 161 Wn.2d 43, 164 P.3d 454 (2007)(an insurer may not rely upon its own interpretation of case law to refuse to defend."); *Coventry Assocs v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 269, 277, 961 P.2d 933, 936 (1998).

Zurich cannot benefit from its own bad faith decision to prematurely pay-and-walk, which deprived Singh of a defense against the Sykes lawsuit. Division I properly recognized this in its decision.

D. Singh Is Entitled To Be Made Whole

The presumptive measure of damages was the \$250,000 judgment against Singh and in favor of Sykes. Zurich apparently argues this is the only damage Singh was entitled to in defending the Sykes lawsuit. This position is not supported by Washington law.

"[W]hen an insurer wrongfully refuses to defend, it has voluntarily forfeited its ability to protect itself against an unfavorable settlement, unless the settlement is the product of fraud or collusion. To hold otherwise would provide an incentive to an insurer to breach its policy." *Truck Ins. Exch. v. Vanport Homes, Inc.*, 147 Wn.2d 751, 765–66, 58 P.3d 276 (2002)

In *Kirk*, this court held, "[t]he general rule regarding damages for an insurer's breach of contract is that the insured must be put in as good a position as he or she would have been had the contract not been breached. In the failure to defend context, recoverable damages include: (1) the amount of expenses, including reasonable attorney fees the insured incurred defending the underlying action, and (2) the amount of the judgment entered against the insured." *Kirk*, 134 Wn.2d at 561 (internal citations omitted). As set forth in *Miller v. Kenny*, 180 Wn. App. 772, 802, 325 P.3d 278 (2014):

Once it is determined that the insurer acted in bad faith by failing to settle, typically the chief component of the insured's damage caused by that failure will be the insured's liability to the third party. This component is measured by the amount of the third party's covenant judgment against the insured. However, the insured's damages may include as an additional component the damages caused to him by the insurer's bad faith. Examples include the potential effect on the insured's credit rating, damage to reputation, loss of business opportunities, and loss of control of the case. Butler, 118 Wash.2d at 399, 392, 823 P.2d 499. Other examples are loss of interest, attorney fees and costs, financial penalties for delayed payments, and emotional distress, anxiety, and fear. Anderson v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co., 101 Wash.App. 323, 333, 2 P.3d 1029 (2000). review denied, 142 Wash.2d 1017, 20 P.3d 945 (2001). Because bad faith is a tort, an insured is not limited to economic damages. Anderson, 101 Wash.App. at 333, 2 P.3d 1029, citing Coventry Assocs. v. Am. States Ins. Co., 136 Wash.2d 269, 284-85, 961 P.2d 933(1998).

Miller v. Kenny, 180 Wn. App. 772, 802, 325 P.3d 278 (2014)

The reasoning in *Kirk* and *Miller* is sound because bad faith is a tort.

There is no basis for accepting review here.

E. Emotional Distress Damages Are Recoverable in Insurance Misconduct Cases

The Washington Supreme Court held in *Coventry Assocs. v. American States Insur. Co.* that general tort damages are available for insurance bad faith. 136 Wn.2d at 285. This rule remains unchanged after nearly two decades. *See Anderson*, 101 Wn. App. at 333 (emotional distress damages were recoverable for an insurer's bad faith committed when it refused to disclose the existence of underinsured motorist coverage to its injured insured); *Kenny*, 180 Wn. App. at 801 (2014)(emotional distress damages are available for an insurer's bad faith where it exposes its insured

to an excess judgment by failing to settle a liability claim within its insured's policy limit); *Woo*, 161 Wn.2d at 70 (2007)(the Washington Supreme Court upheld a jury's award of emotional distress damages for an insurer's bad faith where the insured offered no evidence supporting his emotional distress other than his own testimony).

Federal cases applying Washington law are in accord. *See Taladay v. Metropolitan Grp. Property and Cas. Ins. Co.*, 2016 WL 3681469 (W.D. Wash. 2016)("emotional distress damages are recoverable for an insurer's bad faith..."); *Scanlon v. Life Ins. Co. of North America*, 670 F. Supp. 2d 1181, 1196-97 (W.D. Wash. 2009)("a party can rely exclusively on his or her own testimony to establish emotional distress in a bad-faith insurance case."

Zurich relies on dicta in *Schmidt v. Coogan*, an attorney malpractice case, that did not alter the principle in *Coventry*, *Anderson*, or *Kenny* and is not controlling. 181 Wn.2d 661, 335 P.3d 424 (2014). Concerning the availability of emotional distress damages in bad faith claims, all that the Supreme Court said in *Coogan* was that it, "[had] never before addressed the availability of emotional distress damages for insurance bad faith..." *Id*. at 676

Following *Coogan*, this Court denied review of a Division I opinion affirming a \$300,000 award for emotional distress damages resulting from

an insurer's bad faith. *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. Myong Suk Day*, 197 Wn. App. 753, 771, 393 P.3d 786 (2017), review denied sub nom. *Mut. of*

Enumclaw v. Myong Suk Day, 188 Wn.2d 1016, 396 P.3d 348 (2017).

F. Singh is Entitled to Fees and Expenses Under RAP 18.1

RAP 18.1 and Olympic Steamship allow a prevailing party their

attorney fees and expenses associated with an appeal. Pursuant to RAP

18.1(j), Singh requests his attorney fees and expenses and will file an

Affidavit of same pursuant to RAP 18.1(d).

V. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Singh requests this Court reject Zurich's

Petition for Review and award all reasonable attorney fees and costs

pursuant to RAP 18.1.